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land 18 ruled l:y a queen,’ ’ retorted (“‘hand Kaur

#why should it be a disgrace to the Punjab to

~ be governed by a rani?” and either her reason-
‘ings or other. arguments prevailed so far that

she was appointed xegent until her grandehild

should be born.
Then came disaster. Dhian Singh, who had

bhen working all the while for his own ends, went
| to Jammu on a hunting expedition; the army, =
to whom the Rani had omitted to distribute

 largesse, began to mutiny. Sher Singh appeared =
" at the gates of Lahore; most of the troops went

. over to his side, and the city surrendered to him, .

' But Gulab Singh held the citadel for the Rani,
and his nephew Hira Singh joined him, in spite
of the fact that Dhian Singh was fighting upon
- Bher Singh’s side. “ The intent of this manceuvre
was, that by ostensibly becording enemies to each
other they were enabled to become the leaders
and controllers of the contendirg parties, where-
by their object was secured, whichever side was
' 'successful.”? i

After seven days’ siege, the citadel was sur-

rendered with the honours of war. Chand Kaur

renounced all claim to the regency, and was
given a grant of lands in compensation.

The events of the next few days cannot be
: ! Carmichael Smyth. ik e
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desambed Disappomted of the plunder of the
fort, the troops fell upon the eity and plundered
and murdered indiseriminately. “ Hvery man
gratified his private revenge ; officers were killed
by their men; shopkeepers by their debtors. It
was many days before the troops were pacified,
and the licence which they then enjoyed, they
never forgot.”

In the meantime, Gulab Singh had loaded his
‘ammunition-waggons with the treasure in the fort,
and marched back to Jammu. The Koh-1-Nur
wag recovered from Chand Kaur and presented
to Sher Singh, who was enthroned as Maharaja.
To secure himself better, he renewed the offer he
had made dirvectly after Nao Nahal Singh’s death,
of marrying Chand Kaur by the Sikh rite called
“ throwing the sheet,” which was used for widows
and wives of inferior station. He was told by
Dhian Singh that the Rani considered he must be
mad or a fool to dream that one of the Kanheya
clan would think of marrying the son of a washer-
man, Whether Chand Kaur really said it or not,
the taunt was fatal, Sher Singh and Dhian Singh
alike were anxious to get rid of her. When for
a year she had been living at Lahore, secretly
intriguing with the sirdars and the army to
replace her upon the throne, and making over-
tures, through Ajit Singh, to the Nnglish, four

--------
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of her slave-girls were promised & large’ reward
if they would kill her, At first they tried poison-

. ing her drink, but she suspected the taste, and
. threw it away; then, while they were supposed
to be dressing her hair, they batteved her head
to pieces with a heavy stone. Thus was avenged |
the dying agony of Ishar Kaur, The Raui died,

 uneonscious, within two days, and the slave-girls
disappeared ; whether they also were put out of

the way, or merely lost their hands, ears, ﬁmd '
noses, is a disputed point. W

The army by this time was thomufrhly dm-

organised. The regimental officers had | mno
authority, and took their orders from | the
f“Panches”— a. deputation of the five cleverest
blackguards in a Sikh regiment, who took their
'seats in the midnight parliaments of the Khalsa
army, where measures were concerted for keepmg |
the Lahore Government in ‘the hands of the
goldiers, putting up or deposing and murdering
'a Vizier, voting themselves extra pay, gold
necklaces, &e.”* There were continual mutinies
and assassinations: General Ventura, and most of
the Buropean offivers who had trained the army
in Ranjit's day, left the Punjab. = Dhian Singh,
now paramount at Lahore, tried to mend matters
by discharging some of the worst regiments and
' 1 Edwardes.

-
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enlisting men from the hills in their stead, with
the result that the disbanded troops swelled the
gangs of robbers that infested the country and
sometimes raided into British territory.

Sher Singh was no match either for the army or
for Dhian Singh, whom he had begun to suspect
of a design to depose him, To propitiate the
srmy, he recalled from exile the Sindhanwalia
_chiefs, Ranjit's kinsmen, Ajit Singh and Lahna
' Singh.  Ajit Singh had been the lover of the Rani
Chand Kaur, and had a score to pay off against
her murderers, Adopting Dhian Singh’s favourite
tactics, the Sindhansalias persuaded the Maharaja
that his Minister was about to murder him, and
brought him to sign a paper authorising them
upon & certain day to murder Dhian Singh. Then
they showed the paper to Dhian Singh, and
arranged with him to substitute the Maharaja for
the Minister. ~ On the day appointed, they entered
the summer-house beyond Lahore, where Sher
Singh was listening to state papers, saying they
~ had come to show him a new gun; as he put out
his hand to take it, Ajit fired both barrels into
his breast. Only four words did he gasp before
he died—¢ What treachery is this?”

They killed or wounded his attendants before
going on to the garden close by, where Pertab
Singh, the Maharaja's son, the most promising
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. 'of all the royal fa.mlly, was ab prayer La,lma. _
||/ Singh rushed upon him with a drawn sword and
the poor boy—who was only twelve years old—

eried out, “Babaji, I will remain your servant.”

« Your father is slain,” answered the sirdar, and '

ran him through the body. |
Meanwhile Ajit Singh had rldden to meeb_
Dhian Singh and tell him  that all was well

The two rode back to Lahorve side by side, and ._
went up to the fort, talking of the succession,

“Who is to reign?” asked A_]lt and Dhlan

answered, “ Dhulip Singh shall be Maharaja and
il Wanr and the Sindhanwalias shall enjoy:'_"'_.'-:""

power.”  Again Ajit asked the same questlon |
and again Dhian obstinately made the same |
 reply. Then Ajit's fury broke forth. * You are .
" the murderer of the Rani Sahib,” he cried, and .

fired his pistol at the Minister. Dhian Singh fell
dead from his horse, and the attendants hacked
his body with their swords, and: flung it into the
rubbish-pit of the gun foundry in the fort.
.\ An attempt to complete the day's work by -

inveigling Suchet Singh and Hira Singh fo o
conference in the fort, was a complete failure.
The news of what had been done was flying
through the distriet, and Hira Singh - was
' haranguing the troops, promising gratuities and
increase of pay to all who Would follow him to
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punish the murderers of his father, who had
sworn to deliver the country to the English and

disband the Khalsa army. Leaving the supper |

which the cooks were preparing at the moment,
the indignant soldiers gathered round the fort,

and before the close of another day it was carried

by storm. Ajit Singh and Lahna Singh were

killed, and Ajit Singh’s head was taken to Dhian

Singh's widow, who had sworn not to burn with
her husband’s corpse until his murderers lay dead
-at her feet. -

Next day the Pauches of the army proclaimed
Hira Singh, “the lapdog of Ranjit,” as Prime
Minister, and the boy Dhulip Singh as Maha-
raja.

Of all the spurious children fathered upon
Ranjit, Dhulip Singh was the most barefaced
attempt at imposition. There was & certain
woman in Ranjit's zenana named Jindan, the
daughter of a trooper, or, as some said, a dog-
keeper in the Maharaja’s service. Shameless and

abandoned, she enlivened the drinking-bouts at

. the palace’with her coarse buffoonery, and was
in great favour with Ranjit in lus latter years,
until her impudence went so far as to imitate
her betters by presenting him with a “son.” If
Dhulip Singh were indeed her child, his father
was a water-carrier at the Palace; but he may
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i h&w been procured from outsldc, hke Sher h»Smgh

' He was certainly not the child of Ranpt mzd-.

"'dean was never married to the Maharaja. =
" Just before Dhian Singh’s murder, he accmeﬂ.
to be meditating a coup d’dtat, to depose Sher

Singh and set up the six-year-old boy in his

" stead, and now Hira Singh carried out his father's
| ._demgns. ! i
The new minister did not enjoy a long or &

prosperous reign. ‘The country was almost in a
. state of anarchy, the army entively out of hand,

and the woman whom he had raised to the mnk i
of queen - mother was intriguing aga.mst him,

aided by her worthless drunken brother, Jawahir .I::'
Singh. It is impossible to tell all the story,

" which is unspeakably loathsome, The end of it

| was that, after little more than & year, there was

another revolution at Lahore; Hira Singh was
murdered, and the government was carried on
by Jawahir Singh, the Rani Jindan, her lover,
and her favourite slave-girl. Murders, revolts,
‘and a terrible visitation of the cholera added to.
the misery and disorder of the country, while
such scenes were passing at the Court as must
be left undeseribed. On several occasions no
business could be done, becanse Jawahir Singh,
the Rani, and even the little Maharaja, were all
drunk. Then Jawahir Singh was murdered by
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the soldlery, though he strove 0 probect hlm-»_ i

self by taking the young Maharajo  on hv!-
clephant. |

When Jawahir's widows came in the evening
'to burn upon his pyre, they were treated with
brutality by the soldiers—although a sati is
sacred, and her curse can drag down to all the
hells, The money which they would have thrown
among the erowd, according to rite and custorn,
was snatched out of their hands; their jewels,
their ear-rings, and their nose-rings were torn
from them when they mounted the pyre. As
& erowning outrage, one of the soldiers tore the
embroidery and gold fringes from the trousers
of one of the women, Then, among the smoke
and flames, a tall figure rose and cursed those
who had insulted her last hour; ere the year
was out, the Sikhs should be conquered, their
land desolate, and the wives of the Khalsa army
should be widows.






(XIX,

THE TAIL OF THE AFGHAN STORM—
) 1838-1843.

AT a crisis in one of (ireat Britain's recent wars,
timely help was given by certain reinforcements
which had been embarked at Karachi.

It is due to the foresight and wisdom of Bartle
Frere, Commissioner of Sind sixty years ago, that
Karachi has a harbour ranking “ among the most
conyenient as well as the most important in the
world.” That Sind itself, on the shortest route
between England and India, and commanding
the road through the Bolan Pass and onward
to Central Asia, should be British territory, is
due in the first instance to Lord Auckland’s
Afghan policy.

Except for strategic advantages, the triangle
formed by the delta of the Indus was not
desirable territory. At the base was the sea,
and on the other sides were rainless deserts.
20
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 Inlend stretched mile after mlle of sa.ndy Waate,_
where occasional patches of tamarisk jungle

marked the beds of rivers filled only in the =
raing, or ridge after ridge of low wundulating =

stony hills covered with prickly - pear bushes.
Here and there were the ruins of ancient cities
and forts erumbling to dust and forgotten. The
annual rising of the Indus turned great part of
the plain into a level flood, which, as it sub-
“sided, lefs wide tracts of swamp to breed malavia
‘and fever, '

Towards the end of the eighteenth cenfury 8
Biluchi chief had established hirmself in Sind,
He succeeded in having his title established by
a firman from Kabul, and took his younger
brothers into partnership with him. All bub
one of the **Four Kriends” (Char Yar), as local
history calls them, left male descendants, ‘and
these, known collectively as ‘‘the Amirs,” were
ruling Sind at the time of the Tripartite Treaty.

According to some authorities, the Amirs were
good - natured, if hasty and not always to be
trusted, and their government, though despotic,
was patriarchal. According to others, the Amirs
were monsters, as cowardly and treacherous as
they were debauched and cruel, Without lean-
ing to one side or the other, certain facts may
be admitted. The Amirs did not profeas to
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- govern £ qhml for ite own g@ood ; theur exa«,mons' i\
were ruining the cultivators of the goil, who had |

to pay mnearly two- thirds of the produce to the
. tax - collector.  They laid waste fertile land to
‘make preserves for their game, which it was
‘death for any man but themselves to kill or
injure. Neither they nor their Biluchi vassals,
who were the upper class in Sind, saw any
harm in cutting a wife to pieces, or in stifling
a 'child whose further existence was inconvenient.

Uglier crimes than these were laid to the
‘charge of the Amirs; if the worst that was said
. of them had been proved in every detail, it
_ gearcely could justify the way in which they
were treated by the British Government at the
tinie of the Afghan war.

Already several commercial treaties had bem
made between the Amirs and the Company, by
~ which free passage through Sind was granted
for merchants and travellers, while it was laid
“ down that ships of war and military stores were
not to be earried on the Indus.

Unhappily for the Amirs, Ranjit Singh refused
“to allow the British army to pass through his
territories on the way to Afghanistan. Lord
“ Auekland durst not offend ‘our old and faithful
a.lly, as he styled the Maharaja, so he directed

~ Colonel Pottinger, the British Rcsulent at Haidar-



D4 mmm ma on TR ARGRAN STOmE— {3

i -'."a.bad to inform the' Amits tha,t the army must;'“”f“'
Vi pa.ss through Sind, and therefore the article of

' the treaty with them prohibitory of using ‘the
Indus for the conveyance of m1htary stores, must-_-
' necessarily be suspended.”

But more was to be taken from the Amirs than i
the control of the river of which they were keenly

jealous; funds were wanted for the expedition, |
It was as impossible to get money from Ranjit,

who had hoards of treasure, as from Shah ‘%hu]a,:
 who was without resources. Accordingly, Pot-
' tinger was instructed that the Amirs must pay
goveral lakhs of rupees to Shah Shuja as the
price of his acknowledgment of their independ-
ence; the exact sum, he was told, had not been
. settled, but “the Amirs may be 3upposec1
wealthy.” |
This letter was written by William Macnaghten,
then Secretary to the Governor-General. For
any part that he may have played in this busi-
ness he was to pay in full, some years later,
-~ upon the blood - stained snow on the plain of '
Kabul. '
The Amirs protested indignantly that Sha.h
Shuja was the puppet of the British, incapable
of taking one rupee without their help. They
produced releases from his supremacy, signéd
by himself upon the Koran in former days.
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A How this is to he got ov’er, I do not myself

. see,” wrote Pntblnver He saw the method when

. a British force, ha.vmg obtained possessiin of the
' island fort of Bakkar, the key of Sind, began it
march southwards to Haidarabad, where another
. British force wis making demonstrations.”

' The threat wag enough; the Amirs submitted,
. ‘hoping, said ohe who knew them, that when once
the English army was in Afghanistan, they might
. prevent its return to India. It has beex | told
how -th.a,t' army 1*efqu1'n¢d. ‘ '

o

L.

Relations between the Amirs and the British
Government became more and more strained after
it had been decided to evacuate Afghanistan,  For
a time the Amirs of Upper and Lower Sind forgot
their disagreements with each other, and combined
-against the hated English, “They interrupted the
river navigation ; they levied duties contrary to the.

| treaties; they even passed an insolent decree that

all the traders who had established themselves ou

the skirts of our cantonments should have their

houses razed and their goods confiscated.”* Tosome

extent they had been checked by James Outram,
' 1'A. Innes Shand.
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_the Political Agent in Upper Sind a,n& E.helab
whose achievements in maintaining peace, in
| keoping open the road to Kandahar, and in gend-
. ing supplies to the generals in Afghanistan, had
been rewarded by removal from his post. In
his stead, with full civil and military powers,
had come a small peremptory man of sixty years

. old, with flowing grey hair and beard, hoakad

' nose, and eyes as bright and fierce as those of &

hawk, flashing behind a large pair of gpectacles,
which the Amirs amused themselves with trylngf
' on, at their first interview.

The Amirs did not like Sir Charles Na,pler, ik
" his business with them. He had none of Qutram'’s
dignified courtesy and concilintory manner. He

was jraseible, vehement, making no allowances for

the tortuous methods of Bastern diplomacy. He
upbraided them with treachery, denouncing their
secret correspondence with the ruling powers at
Lahore and Multan; he required them to sign
another treaty, by which, though they were re-
lieved from the payment of the tribute and
 subsidies, they were obliged to cede territory to
the British, and to the Nawab of Bhawalpur to
whom part of it had once helonged. = There was
such talk of “improvement in the administra-
tion,” and the Amirs, like many better meu, had
no zeal for improvements that were to be camed



THE m;; OF THE AFGHAN STORM-—1838-1843. | 407

out at their expense.  So they made ﬁhe;ir dis-

positions, hoping for the support of some of the
neighbours whose wrath against the ' English
thev had been fanning since the begmmng of
the Afghan wanr,

In all time of trouble the Amivs of Upper Sind
conld take refuge in their fortress of Imamgarh,
in the very heart of the desert. No European
had ever beheld it, none knew exactly where iti
stood. Few Bindians would dare to attempt the
way thither by the desert tracks that changed
from time to time as the scanty watersprings
disappeared from the wells, to trickle up again in
some other patch of sand, far away. In the
desert prowled the Biluchi horsemen, ready to
attack all comers. Within the fortress was a
garrison of two thougand, with food, water, and
ammunition. Once in Imawmgarh, the Amirs
could defy any foe, since those who escaped
from the horsemen would be smitten down by
the sun, or perish more slowly of hunger and
thirst among the whirling columns of dust that
overwhelm camels and dry up waterskins.

Imamgarh, “the base and place of arms for
the main army” of Upper Sind, was held by a
son of the old Amir Rustam, lately the wearer
of “the Turban” that gave pre-eminence in
Sind. Rustam had been ftricked into resigning
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| the Turba.n 0 an amhmous brother, All Murad
'__';anrl belleved that Napmr, who had advised hlm |

“trust to the care’’ of that brother, was pay i

aponmblu for his downfall. Napier cunude;red

the Amirs “the greatest ruffians he ever met
with, without any exception,” and was convinced
that the annexation of Sind was inevitable and
desirable— a very advantageous, nseful, humane
piece of rascality.” But he was incapable of
. double - dealing, and the villain of the piece was
i Murad who studied how to embroil the other
~ Amirs with Napier, and to represent their actions

in the worst light, so that he might become sole

Craler in the land.

Another son of Rustam was. holding another

fort in the eastern desert near the border of '
Jeysulmer. Rustam, when called upon to make
his sons keep the peace, blandly replied that he
 had invested them with authority to hold: the
forts, and that his cession of the Turban to Ali
Murad was null and void. Ali Murad announced
an intention of reducing his kinsmen to.order,
but seemed in no haste.

The Biluchis were gathering in Upper Smd
Rustam himself hovered on the borders of the
desert, where food and water could be had; and
other Amirs were said to be upon the road to
Imamgarh with thousands of followers, It was
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| Jmum‘? 1848, fmd in a httle while the fearful-'_" '
 “hot weather” of Sind would begin. -

Napier was ag well aware of this as the Amirs
“could be. His own summary of the situation I8
not unfair to them, if unjust to Outram. 1
found that all the politicals had gone on from
the heginning, trifling.  Sometimes letting the
“Amirs infringe the treaty without notice ; at
others pulling them up, and then dropping the

matter: in short, I saw it was a long chain of

. infringement — denial - apology — pardon, = over
and over. 1 therefore resolved not to let this
which old Indians call ‘knowing the people’ go
on. .. . As letters from the Ameers were inter-
cepted, proposing to other powers to league and
drive mus out of Scinde; Lord Ellenborough
thought, and I think justly, that a new treaty
* shonld be entered into, which he sent me. . . .
1 cannct enter upon our right to be here at all
that is Lord Auckland’s affair, Welll I' pre-
sented the draft of the new treaty. The Ameers
bowed with their usual apparent compliance, but
_ raised troops in all directions, These I was
ordered by the Governor - General to disperse.
To disperse irregular troops, they having a
" desert at their back, and four hundred miles
of river to cross and run up the mountains, and
all this with their chiefs swearing they submltted
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to everything, to gat me into the hot waather'fl_
when I could not move, and thus cut off all®

' our communications at their ease, was no trifle,

> 3t ¥ BRI

In short, it was to attack a ¢ Will-o'-the-wisp.

The words were written as he returned from ==

a chase after the  Will-o’-the-wisp.” -
 Even the wild beasts — the hywna, the boal, |
' the deer—dared not penetrate far into the wastes

surrounding Imamgarh, ¢ The sandhills stretched

north and south for hundreds of miles, in parallel = |

ridges rounded at top, and most symmetrically

plaited like the ripple on the sea-shore after a ' =

I plamd tide, The sand was mingled with shells, a.nd__
ran in great streams resembling numerous rivers.” i
Across the ridges toiled a small foree of men,
mounted upon camels--850 of the 22nd (Queen’s)
| Regiment, 200 irregular cavalry, dragging two
howitzers, and led by Napier himbelf who was
‘enjoying the desperate venture with all his heart. |
It cost him nothing to march light, since he had
often demonstrated his maxim that mno soldier
‘needs much baggage beyond two towels and a
cake of soap; but when the forage failed, and
 water was scarcely to be had, on the second day
" of his desert march he was obliged to cut off
more than superfluities, and sent back 150 of
his cavalry.
| 1°W. Napier.
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Rustam, mth sevml guna and a force fien txmeq."
as large as Napier's, was on his flank, but still
the march continued. Qutram, sent back from
Bombay by a sudden caprice of the Governor-
" General that he might help the negotiations for
the treaty, had reached Napier's camp in time
to take part in the expedition; he was sent to
veason with Rustam, and Napier rode further
and further “through an ocean of sandhills,”

Water was not always to be found, the camels
grew weak, and the men must help to drag the
howitzers. They went by a way that they knew
not, uncertain whether they went right; but on.
the eighth day they saw the walls and the round
towers that encompassed the square keep of
Imamgarh,

It was empty ; the young Amir and his garrison
had fled with their treasure, two days before, south-
wards to the Indus. _

To save trouble in the future, having wrung an
unwilling congent from Ali Murad, Napier used the
powder left in the magazine to blow the fortress to
pieces. Then he set off on the return march to the
Indus, thinking not of war and battle, but of his
dead mother. He notes in his diary, on the day
when Imamgarh was destroyed, that in a dream he
saw her “ beauteous face ”—that face which, eighty
years before, had almost won a throne for Lady
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'b:a,mh Lennox when she played at makmg hay m'.-__'-
the grounds of her uncle’s house, . |

I1I.

While Napier was bringing his forece back ta_ -
camp by another way through the desert, without
a single case of sickness or the logs of one man,

Outram was traversing ninety miles of hostile i

‘country with an escort of two Biluchi horsemen,
endeavouring at the eleyenth hour to make the

Amirs decide for peace. He could do little, o

Rustam received him ecivilly, but when agsured
that the territory remaining to the Amirs was to
be settled, ¢ as much as possible, fairly towards all
parties,” retorted, * What remains to be settled ?
Our means of livelihood are taken.”

Not one Amir from Upper Sind came in answer
to Outram’s summons to meet him by January
95th. The Amirs of Lower Sind ostentatiously
sent deputies to the British camp, while seeretly
 dommanding their allies and feudatories to come |
with all their fighting men to Haidarabad. |

Outram prevailed upon Napier to allow him to
go down to Haidarabad to plead with them, and
to extend the time of grace until February 6th.:
Though Napier was the first to give Qutram the
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title of ““the Bayard of India,” he was finding that
chivalry might be somewhat inconvenient. Having
honestly made up hig. own mind that the Amirs
intended treachery, and that they must be swept
out of the way, be could not understand how any
one could hold other views. “I confess not to
like those who .differ in opinion with me,” he
openly declared, at a time when he and Outram
were in complete accord. Later on, it is: ¢ Outram
provokes me ; he pities those rascals, who are such
atrocious tyrants that it is virtuous to roll them
over like ninepins.” Nevertheless, he now wrote
to Outram: I am sure they” (the Amirs) “will
not resist by force of arms, but I would omit no
one step that you, ov any one, thinks can prevent
the chance of it.” It was too late to persnade the
Amirs that the General was not bent upon fighting
them, whatever they might do. The nature of his
methods of diplomacy was such as might be
imagined from an order written soon after his
arrival in India to the officer in command of a
regiment reported to be in a state of mutiny:
“1 expect to hear by express that you have put
down the mutiny within two hours after receipt of
this letter.”

At Haidarabad, Outram won the chiefs to a
semblance of submission. A Durbar was summoned
for February 12th, at which the Amirs would sign
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. and seal the treaty. Incldenta,lly, thay deslgnedi{l Bl

at the same time to murder Outram.
. #Blindly went Outram to the intended slzmghter
house, and if he escaped, it was only because the
Ameers, thinking the General was as reckless as
his Commissioner, hoped for a greater vietim."
' Outram probably was not so blind as William
Napier chose to consider him; he knew his in-
flnence over the savage Biluchis, and he trusted to
1t to bring him unscathed from his lagt attempt to
ensure peace. | |
The treaty was signed by all the Amirs save
one, who was absent, and Outram went back to the
' Residency through a howling, eursing mob, that
was restrained from wviolence only by the armed
escort sent by the Amirs.

Next day, the Amirs were bewailing their in-
ability to control their soldiers, to which Outram

replied that they would be responsible for their
subjects’ conduet, and that he had no intention of
refiring from the Residency, and would not post
one additional sentry at his door. '
Two days after this, eight thousand horse and
foot attacked the Residency with six guns, but
failed to force the “imperfect low-walled enclosure
of 200 yards square,” although Outram had only a
hundred men to defend it, and each man had only
forty rounds of ammunition. After four hours
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fighting, *‘seeing nothing more could be done,” the
garrison crossed the few hundred yards dividing
the Residency from the Indus, and embarked on
the two little steamers belonging to the Company,
“which carried them up the river to the adyanced
guard of Napier'’s army,

They had given what Napier termed “a brilliant
example of defending a military post,” and the
great battle for which he had been longing ever
 gince his arrival in the country was now inevitable,
There was probably not a happier man in India
than the old General on the night of February
16th.  “Not to be anxious about attacking such
immensely superior numbers is impossible ; but it
is a delightful anxiety.” *Let them be sixty or
one hundred thousand,” he exelaimed, when reports
were brought in that the enemy were massing in
inereasing numbers, “I will fight!” He brought
his journal up to date; he wrote last letters to kin
and friends; he visited the outposts, and at mid-
night he lay down to sleep.

LY.

Over a level plain of smooth hard sand ran the
voad to Miani, Here and there a few stunted
bushes broke the whiteness of the surface, and to



within the dry bed of the Fuleli river, In front
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ol f"he nght and left of the roa.d about thrae«qua.rbers i

. of a mile apart, were the Shikargahs, the woods

o which 'the Amirs had made for their hunting. '

It was for other sport than hunting that they

had brought ont their army of thirty thousand men |
‘early on this February morning, and drawn it up

of the bank which sloped down to the plain were

their guns ; the right wing rested on an entrenched i
vﬂlage, the left on a ﬂhlkargah covered bv ai

wall with one narrow opening.

Thus Captain Jacob of the Sind Horse found.
them, when Napier sent him on a seouting ex-

pedition at about seven o'clock on the morning of
February 16th,

At three o'clock the bugles had sounded ¢ Fall
in,” and Napier with his little army began the

advance towards Miani, Outram was not with him, |
S

having been detached to set fire to the woods in

which it was supposed that the enemy’s left flank

was posted. As the enemy had moved during the

night, wo one was the worge for the manceuvre

save Outram himself, and the two huadred men

with him, who missed the battle; but the smoke

of the burning woods was the signal for Napier to

“form his line at nine o’clock.

- The whole of Napier’s force, including the officers,

amounted to no more than two thousand four
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~ hundred men; and some of these must be told off
to guard the camp-followers, who were formed into
a cirele surrounded by recumbent camels and bales
of stores. Only one European regiment was there,
the 22nd. - -

The line was formed, and the General gave the
signal to advance across the thousand yards that
separated the two armies. Already the Biluchi
- guns were playing on his line, and shots from the
marksmen who lay hidden in the dry watercourses
that seamed the ground, were driving through
clouds of dust. EBighteen hundred men were to be
led in frontal attack against more than thirty
thousand, who had nearly every advantage of
position.

As he rode forward with his staff, the General
noted the opening in the wall enclosing the Shi-
kargah on the enemy’s left. He ““rode near this
wall, and found it was nine or ten feet high; he
rode nearer, and marked it had no loopholes for
the enemy to shoot through; he rode into the
opening under a play of matchlocks,”! and saw
there was no scaffolding, and therefore that the
enemy could not fire over the top of the wall,
Calling - Captain Tew, he bade him take the
grenadiers of the 22nd; they must bar the way
for the enemy who would try to issue from the

' W. Napier.
2D
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il _opemng a.nd fall on the Brttlsh lme in ﬂank and

| vear, Tew was killed at his post, but his men
_ held on, keeping six thousand Bﬂuchm blooked
. within the wall. A
' Meanwhile the army had advanced across the '_
plain, the charge was sounded by the bugler who
ran all day at the General's stivrup, and the in-.
fantry dashed forward, regardless of the fire from
the guns within fifteen yards of them. A shout
and a rush, and the 22nd were on the top of the

' bank, looking down upon the mass of the enemy.

#Thick as stsnding corn, and gorgeous as a field
of flowers,” the Biluchis filled the river-bed ; ‘¢ they

" elustered on both banks, and covered the plain
 beyond.  CGuarding their heads with theix large

‘dark  shields, they shook their sharp swords,,
beaming in the sun, their shouts rolled like a peal
of thunder ' as they dashed over the bank. i

The battle raged round the bed of the Fuleli, as

musket and bayonet met sword and matchlock.
The Biluchis leaped the banks like a swelling river;
. “they gave their breasts to the shot, they leaped

upon the guns and were blown away by twenties
at a time; their dead went down the steep slope

by hundreds; but the gaps in their masses were

continually filled up from the rear.” The 22nd and

the sepoys could not hold their ground against the
!'W. Napier. |
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sheer Welght of numbers they were broken they
were driven back, but they rallied, and stubl)m nly
regained their place.  Wherever the fight was
fiercest could be seen the little wiry figure of the
(Greneral, cheering his men by voice and gesture,
his waving grey hair singed by the guns, He was
unable to defend himself because a day or two
before the battle, seeing a camel-driver brutally
ill-treating an animal, he had elouted him over the

- head, thereby dislocating his right wrist, without =

making any impression upon the offender, Once,
in the press of the fight, he was separated from all
his men, and swrrounded by several of the enemy,
“who stalked around him with raised shields and
scowling eyes,” but forbore to touch him, go that
he came back unhurt amid the wild cheering of the
22nd.

After three hours of this work, Napier recog-
niged that his men could not stand much more,
Nearly all the Kuropean officers were killed o
~wounded, and the sepoys, as brave as the bravest
when led by the men whom they knew and trusted,
- could not stand without them. The men’s muskets
were clogged with powder, Where ten of the enemy
had fallen, it seemed that twenty swarmed in their
stead. “ There was no time to be lost,” wrote Sir
Charles in his despatch, “and I sent orders to the
~cavalry to force the right of the enemy’s line.”
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i ‘Across the plain 'galli'nped the 9th Bengal Gaw.lfY S

' ‘and the Sind Horse, and drove the Biluchis from
. the enfrenched village. The ground was inter-
sected with nullabs and ditches, and fifty men
were thrown from their saddles in the charge, yeti

they rode through the guns, and over the high '
bank of the river, throngh the mud and water .

that filled its bed, up the bank on the opposite
side, to divide on the plain beyond. The 9th fell
upon the infantry to the left, the Sind Horse

. crashed into the camp of the Amirs, “spreading
confusion along the rear of the line of battle.” =~

Then at last the Biluchi centre began to waver.
“ The 22nd first saw their masses shake, and leaping
forward with the shout of wvictory, pushed them
backwards into the deep ravine, and there closed
in combat again.” Sepoys and Madras Sappers
‘erowded after them, and the forces within the
Shikargah joined them in the river-bed for the
last struggle. Through the clouds of dust and
~ smoke now emerged the bright-coloured turban of
& Biluchi, now the dirty white cotton cover that
shaded the forage cap of a soldier of the 22nd.
Then from the choking haze began to thrust masses
of Biluchi swordsmen at a swinging stride which
they would not break info a run, though grape and
shells were pouring upon them from the English
guns, The iying cavalry were pursued by the
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triumplant Sind Horse for three miles, hut the
infanfry yielded their ground so slowly that Napier
thought it well to leave them alone, when once
they were full in retreat.

He made his camp beyond the river, and rode
over the battleficld at night while his soldiers
~ slept.  Nearly a sixth of his force had been killed
or wounded, but more than five thousand of the
enemy lay stretched on the plain, or heaped one
. upon another in the river-bed. After returning to

his ‘tent, he slept so soundly that when a false
~alarm roused the camp, Outram was obliged to
pull him off his bed before he could be awakened,

Next morning the Amirs sent messengers to agk
what terms he would grant. * Life, and nothing
more,” wag the Greneral’s reply ; ““and I want your
decision by twelve o’clock, as I shall by that time
have buried my dead, and given my soldiers their
breakfasts.” Six Amirs thereupon rode into camp
and laid their swords at his feet. The swords
 were for ornament rather than use; none of the
wearers had exposed himself on the field of battle
“where their soldiers had fought to the death,

V.

The campaign was not finished when Napier
occupied Haidarabad a few days later, Oue of
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| the Amirs, “the Li'bﬂ,”ﬁher'- Mohamimad? who

' had not been present at Miani, was at large, 'md
ol gafhefing an army. His skirmighers raided up to
the ‘city gates, and drove away camels ﬁom under' |
the noses of the pickets,

“Quit this land and your life shall be spared i
was the message that his envoy brought to Napier
in March, “ provided you restore all that yon have
taken.” As the words were spoken, the evening
gun was fired.  “ You hear that sound 2” answered
~ Napier, “Itis my answer to your chief, Begonel” '
And he turned his back upon them.

A friendly proposal to assassinate 'S_'her _.
Mohammad, made by “the Lion’s” own brother,

met with no gratitude from Napier, who sent

‘warning at once to the chief His own position
was none of the pleasantest, with Sher Moham-
mad’s forces surrounding his camp and dividing =

him from the reinforcements for which he was

‘waiting, but he played the game of bluff, and
played it well. With the help once more of Jacob
~and the Sind Horse, he succeeded in getting eight:

hundred sepoys, several squadrons of cavalry, and a
battery of horse artillery, past the enemy into his
lines. The day after their arrival, sitting at break-
fast with his staff, he suddenly exclaimed, “Now
my luck would be great if I could get my other

L Sher=Lion,
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reinforcements ; but that c:mnot be—-—they will not
be here for a week, and T will not let ‘the Lion’
bully me any longer, T will fight him to-morrow.”
The words were hardly out of his meuth when an
“officer exclaimed, *“ There are hoats coming up the
river!”  All ran out of the tent; the reinforce-
ments from Bombay, coming up-stream, were
_ entering the port, and in the distance, coming
down-stream, were boats bringing other reinforce-
ments,
 Next day, March 24th, at another spot on the
banks of the Fuleli, within a few miles of the field
of Miani, the promised battle! was fought, and
“the Lion” was put to flight

He fled into the desert, whence he was hunted
by Jacob, who broke up his force, and drove him
back to the Indus. The news of this victory
reached Sir Charles at the time when he had
dropped down with sunstroke, on going out of
his tent. Thirty-three European soldiers who fell
at the same moment, a8 from the discharge of a
shell, were dead in three hours; the intrepid old
(teneral, having been bled in both arms, was
making a hard struggle for life, when the horseman
came with Jacob's despateh. “I felt life come
back,” said Napier.

1 (lenerally known in history as the battle of Dubbs, but in-
seribed as “ Flyderabad ” on the colours of the regiments engaged.
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i “ The, tail of the Afghrm storm,” as he callad 1t |
il had now passed away, and he turned all his energy -

 to civil administration, 1 have to collect revenue,

administer justice, arrange the troops, survey the
. country, project improvements, forra civil officers,
and appoint proper functionaries.” He organised
police, he forbade the carrying of weapons by any
but the chiefs, and he¢ put down wife-murder with
a strong hand, to the bewilderment of the eulprits
and their friends, acting always on his own maxim

that * the great recipe for quieting a country isa | |

good thmslung first, and great kindness. a,fter-'
wards.” |

Meanwhile the Amirs were przsouets of stata,
and Outram vainly pleaded their canse in England.
Nothing could be done. The Court of Directors
passed resolutions condemning the policy which
had resulted in the annexation of Sind, but Sind
henceforth remained part of British India. Ontram
conld only record his protest, and give all his
share of prize-money—three thou%and pounds-—
to charities in India.

For more than three years Napier governed
Sind, a terror to evil-doers. Then, after a few
months’ holiday, came his appointment as Com-
mander-in-Chief in India. Always at strife with
some one or other, his chief antagonist was now
Lord Dalhousie, who would pay no attention to his
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pwphecles of a mutmy in the sepay army, and_
their contention rtogse to such a pitch that he
regigned his post. There were two years of peace

at home, and then Charles Napier died quietly on
his eamp-bed, surrounded by those who loved him,
while his gon-in-law waved over his head the

colours that the 22nd had carried to victory in
Sind,






XX.

ON THE BANKS OF THE SUTLEJ-—
1845-1846. A

Tae Sikh army had an overweening belief  in.
their own strength, trained as they had been

under Ranjit’s eye by European officers, and the '

recent disaster in Afghanistan had shown  that
the English were not invincible. In every
revolution at Lahore it had been proclaimed that
the vanquished party were intriguing with the
English to dishand the army of the Khalsa. The
army was athirst for vengeance upon the Eng-
lish, and the Rani Jindan, who for all her sins
“had morve wit and daring than any man of her
nation,” made no effort to restrain them, be-
lieving that, if thoronghly defeated, they would
give her less trouble in the future. In December
1845, sixty thousand Sikhs crossed the Sutlej
and invaded British territory.

Tt was an anxious moment for the Government
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of India.  The ﬁ&f)()}?s of -thé-'_i(}dinpaﬁyl’a army
. were for the most part Bengali Brahmans, whose

| custe rules were a continual hindrance to their
. efficiency, incapable of enduring the hardships
and fatigues of which the BSikhs made light, and
no longer contident that their Sahibs would lead
them to victory. That experiment in Afghanistan

had lost us our prestige, as well as a few millions

of money and many valuable lives. i
Through all the revolutions that had distracted

'\ the Punjab the last six years, the Government of |

India had exercised continual forbearance. = *¢It
is desirable,” wrote Sir Henry Hardinge, the
(tovernor-General, * that nothing should be done
by us to indicate that the internal affairs of the
state of Labore are matter for our concern.’
Certain preparations had been made unostenta-
tiously ; Gulab Singh, now Raja of Jammu, and
suddenly become our friend and ally, sent warn-
ing that war was inevitable. ~With the BSikhs
encamped near Ferozepore, it was impossible to
avert it by any feat of diplomacy. On December
12th, Sir Hugh Gough, the Commander-in-Chief
in India, started on his march through sand and
jungle to Mudki, about twenty miles from
Ferozepore. - Al
Sir Hugh was a tried soldier. He had begun
his carcer in his father’s militia corps at the age
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of thirteen, and, after obtaining his commission,
had seen service at the Cape, in the Peninsula, in
China, and lately in the Gwalior campaign. = Im-
petuous, fearless, with a quick temper that some-
times exploded when he was furious, “as only
8ir Hugh Gough could be furtous,” ' and &

generous spivit that neither danger, ealumny, nor

injustice could quench, he was respected by all
who knew him, and adored by his soldiers. He
may not have been a complete military strategist,
but his men followed wherever he led ; and even
when his leading seemed to have cost them dearly,
their faith in him never wavered, and wounded
and dying cheered him “when they had scarcely
heads left upon their shoulders to cheer with.”

It wag on the 18th of December that his forces
arrived at Mudki, soon after noon. The cooks
were busy preparing dinner for the weary men,
the camp was being made upon the sandy plain,
when clouds of dust began to rise in the dis-
tance, and graduslly came neaver. The Sikhs had
detached 10,000 cavalry and 2000 infantry to
“eut off Sir Hugh's army before it could be re-
inforced by Sir John Littler, who was at
Ferozepore

It was plain from the first that the Bengelis
“eould not stand against the men of the Khalsa.
It was the English cavalry and infantry that
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ik dIOVB back the euemy with co]d steel, The i
. Sikbs fought desperately, neither giving bt
| taking quarter, When night brought an end to

' the slaughter, after the fighting had been carried

' on for an hour and a half in the dim starlight,

amid clouds of dust, the Khalsa had been driven
from every position, and had left seventeen pleccs |
of artillery behind them.,

Our troops, too exhausted to follow up theu-
victory, rested upon the plain and buried their
dead. Reinforcements came in, and on the 21st
Sir Hugh led out his army to attack the eni~
trenched camp of Lal Singh at Ferozepore.
Another portion of the Sikh army, under Tej
Singh, was mounting guard over Littler at
Ferozepore, and Sir Hugh's instructions were
that Littler should effect a junction with him,
unperceived by this force. '

[t is a question for the military experts——who
have decided it variously —who was to blame
for the errors of that day. Unfortunately for
Sir Hugh’s plans, Sir Henry Hardinge had ac-
companied our forces, and had been so much
impressed by the bravery and discipline of the
Khalsa at Mudki that he forbade the Commander-
in-Chief to ongage the enemy when they found
themselves face to face with Lal Singh’s entrench-
ments, on the morning of the 21st, until Littler’s
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contingent should arrive. The men, who had
only anatehed a hasty breakfast after counter~
marching and being amrayed in uew formation,
were tired and hungry when the action at last
began, about balf-past three in the afternoom,

The enemy's guns were more numerous and
heavier than our own. Littler’s division made a
premature attack, and was so fearfully punished
that it had to retive. When part of our forces
by repeated charges had won their way into the
Sikh camp, a powder magazine exploded, and
increased the damage already wrought by shot
and shell.  Sir Harry Smith succeeded in taking
the wvillage of Ferozeshah, in the middle of the
Sikh position, but after holding it for several
hours, was dislodged between two and three in
the morning,

As darkness fell, the Sikh camp took fire in
many places, from the explosion of packets of
ammunition. The English army was recalled to
a position between the burning camp and a low
serubby jungle, within reach of the Sikh artillery,
- which played upon them occasionally through the
long winter night. Most of our men hud been
under arms for four-and-twenty hours; they
suffered cruelly from hunger, and still more cruelly
from thirst. Kven some of the officers “ of rank
and in important situations” lost heart, and two

2R
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came to Sir Fugh, as from the (}overnor-General
‘to urge retreat upon Kerozepore. I shall go
to the Governor-General,” he replied, * but my
" determination is taken rather to leave my bones
to bleach honourably at Ferozeshah, than that =
they should rot dishonourably at Ferozepore.”
Sir Henry Hardinge denied having sent any
. such megsage, and was resolute as Gough him-
| welf not to retreat, though he had little hope to
do more than make a good end. He sent away
the sword of Napoleon, given to him by the
Duke of Wellington, and wrote instructions to
hiz secretary to destroy all the State Papers
left at Mudki, in the event of defeat at
Ferozeshal. j |

In spite of hig harassed night, Sir Hugh avow-
edly saw nothing to make him despond when the
daylight showed him friend from foe. The in-
fantry formed line, the Qikh entrenchments were
onee more attacked, and the ememy dislodged
from the whole position. Then  the line halted
as on a day of manceuvre, receiving its two
leaders” (Gough and Hardinge) ‘fas they rode
along its front with a gratifying cheer, and dis-
playing the captured standards of the Khalsa.”

It was towards the evening of that day that
intelligence was brought that Tej Singh was
marching from Ferozepore with fresh battalions
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plosions in the past night, not a shot was left
to our artillery, and the cavalry horses were
“ thoroughly done up.” “For a moment then I
felt a regret as each passing shot left me on
horseback,” says Sir Hugh., *“But it was only
for a moment.” ; '

The storm of shot and shell that mow broke
over our forces was too much for the sepoys, and
‘even the English troops were staggered. Then
Gough, in the white coat that he insisted upon
wearing in the day of ‘battle, rushed forward, his
AD.C. at his side, an easy mark “to draw a
portion of the artillery fire on us from our
hard - pressed infantry.” *We, thank God, suc-
ceeded, and saved many unburt,” wrote the
Commander-in-Chief to his son.

The day was saved by what seemed an irrepar-
_able disaster. The British lines still doggedly
held their ground ; the Sikhs, always more ready
to entrench than to attack, had lost their im-
petnosity.  An officer on the staff, dressed in
.- pyjamas, because, he said, ‘“ his overalls had been

. 80 riddled with bullets that they had dropped
off,” delivered an order to our artillery and
cavalry to retire on Ferozepore. The poor man
was suffering from sunstroke, and the order was
the invention of his own crazed brain; but it
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| was obeyed Tej Smgh took it into his head
that the movement was part of an elaborate
device to cut off his retreat, turned tail, and
left the British forces upon the stricken field.
We buried our dead-—nearly seven hundred-—
at' Ferozepore, while the Sikhs fled back to
Lahore.  They left many men in the Sutlej,
many more were robbed, abused, and beaten by
the country people of the districts through which
they had to pass, “even the women of the
villages turning out to rail at them and strike
them as they hurried along.” |
By Januvary they had regained their spmts,
and were massing again near Ludbians. Sip
Harry Smith routed them at Aliwal, and they
fled back over the river. ‘‘Never was victory
more complete,” he wrote, “and never was one
fought under more happy circumstances, literally
with all the pomp of a field-day; and right well
did all behave.” The sound of the c_anno_nading
was heard near Sobraon, where Gough and
Hardinge were watching the fortified eamp of
the Sikhs, on the right bank of the river. An
officer asked the Commander - in - Chief what he
thought of it.  *Think of it! why, that ’tis
the most glorious thing I ever heard. I know
by the sound of the guns that Smith has cartied
the position and silenced their artillery.” When



Tt ARt as itk
Ak A ) TRV
gl PR e I )
1 \ Al ATy
L

ex mn mnns o;n- :vnm smm—«-lsw-lm 437

Athe news of the vmtory reached hnn i he was
nearly frantic with joy”; two minutes afterwards
an officer found him on his knees in his tent
returning thanks to the God of Battles.

11

The Sikh camp at Sobraon was garrisoned with
not less than thirty thousand men; its seventy
pieces of cannon were supported by batteries on
the other side of the river, and a good bridge
ran from bank to bank. Nevertheless, others
besides the Commander-in-Chief were of opinion
that it could be taken by a direct attack. 'The
“weakest place was on the right of the Sikh en-
trenchments, and hither Sir Robert Dick led his
division on the morning of February 10th, as
soon as the heavy river-mists had cleared away,

The battle began with an artillery duel, in
which the sixty British guns were no mateh for
the Sikh artillery. < After two hours’ cannonading,
* an officer hurried to tell the Commander-in-Chief
that ouly a few rounds of shot were left. ¢ Thank
“God!" was Sir Hugh's ejaculation; *then I'll
be at them with the bayonet!”

At this point, an officer on the Governor-
“General’s staff rode up to urge, in Sir Henry
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Hardinge's name, that if Gough were 11013 surel"

of success, and anticipated much loss, he should
withdraw his men and work up to the entlem,h-t"
ments by regular approaches. i

“Loss there will be, of course,” returned_S‘i‘r |
Hugh. “Look at those works bristling with
guns, and defended as they will be; but, by
God's blessing, I feel confident of success,”
 The officer rode back, and presently returned
to repeat the same message, to which Sir Hugh
made the same reply. But when the messenger
returned again, Sir Hugh rounded upon him, his
silvery hair Dristling, his small figure quivering
with impatience. “What! withdraw the troops
after the action has commenced, and when I feel
confident of success? Tudeed I will not! Tell Sir
Robert Dick to move on in the name of God!”

It was nine o’clock in the morning when Dick’s
first line hegan the advance. Dick wag killed,
but his" division wag established within the en-
trenchments.  Sir Harry Smith’s division on the
right was less fortunate ; the way led over rough
ground, intersected by water-courses; their first
advence was repelled, and as they formed up
again under heavy fire they could see the Sikhs
butchering the wounded whom they had left be-
hind them. Once more they charged, and this
time they were not driven back.
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- Meanwhile the central attack had be;é'n repulsed i

“twice, with heavy loss. The entrenchments could
not be climmbed without scaling-ladders; so they
turned to the left, where the defences were not
‘80 high : one man climbed on the shoulders of
another, and the guns were taken.

For nearly an hour the battle raged hand. to
~hand at every point. The Sikhs stood  their
ground, even regaining some of their guns for
an interval. Then the British cavalry swept

through the openings that the sappers had made |

in the entrenchments, and the 8rd Light Dragoons,
“whom no obstacle usually held formidable by
horse appears to check,”! eut down the Bikh
gunners, who, as in former actions, were re-
solved to die at their posts. The fire slackened,
then ceased, and what remained of the Sikh host
was in flight to the Sutlej, which had risen seven
inches; while our horse artillery mowed them
down,  “ Hundreds fell under this cannonade ;
hundreds upon hundreds were drowned in at-
tempting the perilous passage.” By eleven o'clock
the battle of Sobraon was over. |

More than once on that day was it proved that
all the Khalsa was not composed of the dissolute
rufians who had torn the kingdom of Ranjit
‘Singh to pieces, and made the name of Sikh

L. Gough,
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abliorent from the banks of the Sutlej to the

lfg hills of Kashmirv. Theve was a white-clad figure

in the Sikh camp that for honour, loyalty, and
dauntless courage might have stood beside the
white-coated Commander-in-Chief. Sirdar Sham
Singh was the son of a father who had given his
life for Ranjit by taking a sickness of the Maba-
- raja’s upon himself, as Babar did long sgo for
Humayun, He had been one of the first in the
breach at Multan, and had fought in many en- ' ©
gagements. Though his daughter was married to
Nao Nahal Singh, he took no part in politics, and
from firat to last had protested against the war
with the English, pointing out that it would be
the destruction of the Khalsa. In answer to his
warnings, he only received the taunt that he
was a coward, and afraid to die. So he rode
to the camp at Sobraon, knowing that he rode
to his death. On the night before the battle
Tej Singh sent for him, and advised that they
should fly together when the English made their
fBirst attack, and when he rejected the adviee,
said in anger, ““ If you are so brave, you had better
take your oath about it, for 1 believe you will
come with me after all” Then Sham Singh
swore upon the Granth never to leave the trenches
alive.  Next morning, dressed in white and
mounted on his white mare, he exhorted his
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followers to die as became sons of the Khalsa
rather than to give back before the enemy. In
the thick of the fight his voice called upon the
Bikhs to quit themselves like men. It was not
till he saw that all was lost that he spurred forward
against the 50th Regiment, waving his sword, and
calling on his men to follow him. Some fifty of
them obeyed the call, but were driven back into
the river, and Sham Singh fell dead from his
horse, pierced with seven balls.”? |

After the battle, when his servants swam back
across the river to search for his body, ‘it lay
where the dead were thickest, marked out by the
white dress and long white beard. His widow
kunew he was sworn not to outlive a defeat, and
when the news of the battle came to her, she
burned herself with the clothes .that he had
worn on their marriage day-— the last Satz in
the Punjab.

After Sobraon, the way was clear. The British
army crossed the Sutlej, and the young Maharaja,
accompanied by Gulab Singh and some dozen other
chiefs, came to make submission to the Governor-
General. '
~ The terms of peace were not hard. The Govern-

ment of India had no wish to annex the Punjab,
and only desu*ed that their territory and that of
! L. Griffin,
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" their allies should be secure from raids in future. =
. 'Some of the worst disturbers of the peace were

"dead, and it was hoped that under proper guid-
ance Dhulip Singh might grow up to rule with
more credit to himself and less inconvenience to
his subjects. Lahore, for the present, was to be
garrisoned by English troops; the country be-
tween the Beas and the Sutlej was to be ceded
to the Company; and an indemnity of & million
and a half sterling was to be paid.

 When this treaty was ratified, at a _Durbar'
held in Hardinge’s tent, “a small tin box en-
veloped in a shabby cloth” was passed from
hand to hand. Within it was the Koh-i-Nur,
which Dhulip Singh, as Maharaja of Lahore, had
the right to wear

In great state he was escorted back to his

capital ; the courtezans of the Sikh soldiers looked
from every window as British troops marched
through the narrow dirty streets; ‘““and on
every roof and in every gateway the soldiers
themselves were throwing dice, and gambling
away the memory of their defeats.”?

i H. Edwardes.






XXI.

THE ADVENTURES OF A SUBALTERN—
' 1847-1849. |

Havine shattered the Khalsa, the English, with
their usual stolidity, began to put the pieces
together again.

The Rani Jindan was still to be nominal head
of the Durbar, with Lal Singh as Wazir, and two
British officers to support and advise them. One of
these was Major George Macgregor, who as Political
Agent at Jalalabad, had been one of the heads of

e “Tllustrious Garrison,” and his superior was
Colonel Henry Montgomery Lawrence, to be re-
membered for all time as the defender of Lucknow
in a still more desperate siege. Sir John Littler
~ was in command of the British forces at Lahore.
With three such men at his back, if Lal Singh
had set himself fo reorganise the army, and
reduce the power of the Sikh chieftains, he might |
have established a government worthy of the
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name, But “he reformed with one hand and
peculated with the other” Having discharged =
 some soldiers without paying them, their clamour

tervified him go greatly that he dared discharge

no more; and his confiscations of the chieftains’
lands failed of their moral effect, because all the
fiefs were transfarred to himself.

As soon as the war indemnity began to be
considered, it was evident that two millions and
& half could not be paid from an empty Treasury,
with the pay of the army in arrears, and the eivil
population already, stripped bare with cess and
dues and eustoms. It was therefore decided that
mstead of paying the indemmnity in money, the
Government of Lahore should cede the districts
of Hazara and Kashmir to the British.

At this point Gulab Singh, still posing as the
friend of law and the ally of the English, came
forward with an offer: let them give Kashmir to
. him, and he would undertake to pay three-quarters
of a million sterling for it. Seceing that the greater
part of his resources had been derived from his
plunder of the citadel at Lahore after the death
of Nao Nahal Singh, the audacity of the proposal
would have overpowered any one except the Goy-
ernment of India, who actually=—upon a notion
that Kashmir was too far off to be garrisoned-—
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delivered the country over to a man whose cruel-
ties were as notorvious as his treachery.

It was doubtless wrong of Lal Singh to bribe
the CGloverner of Kashmir to hold the province
for the Sikhs, instead of surrendering it to Gulab
Singh, and to deny the proceeding in the face of
his own letters with which he was confronted.
At the same’time, if all his shorteomings had
‘had as much excuse, there wonld have been more
regret when he was deposed after this, in favour
of a “Council of Regency composed of leading
chiefs and sirdars, acting under the control and
guidance of the British Resident.” To those who
know the English manner of dealing with a fallen
enemy, it will not seem remarkable that this
Council included Tej Singh, who had commanded
the army of the Khalsa at Sobraon, and several
others who avowedly detested the English. The
Rani had no longer any share in the govern-
ment, but was given a pension.

One of the ficst subjects brought before the
Durbar was ¢ the outstanding revenue” of Bannu.
“ The Chancellor represented generally that Bannu
was a place on the other side of the river Indus,
in the midst of the hills, and peopled by Afghan
tribes, whose peculiarly barbarous ideas of freedom
had hitherto rendered it impossible to confer on




